# **CONNECTING THE DOTS**

How Climate Change Transforms Market Risks and Opportunities







#### **About the United Nations Global Compact**

Launched in 2000, the United Nations Global Compact is both a policy platform and a practical framework for companies that are committed to sustainability and responsible business practices. As a multistakeholder leadership initiative, it seeks to align business operations and strategies with ten universally accepted principles in the areas of human rights, labor, environment and anti-corruption and to catalyze actions in support of broader UN goals. It is the world's largest voluntary corporate citizenship initiative, with over 6,500 signatories based in more than 130 countries. Visit www.unglobalcompact.org.

**Author:** Tom Burke **Designer:** Hedie Joulaee

#### **Disclaimer**

The views expressed in this publication are not necessarily those of the United Nations. The inclusion of company examples in this publication is intended strictly for learning purposes and does not constitute an endorsement of the individual companies by the United Nations. The material in this publication may be quoted and used provided there is proper attribution.

This report was made possible with the financial support of the Government of Denmark.

# **Table of Contents**

Foreword	4
Introduction	5
Background	7
The Pillars of Prosperity	10
Consequences for People	15
Implications for Policy and Business	19
Endnotes	22
Bibliography	24
Acknowledgement	30
About the Author	30

### **Foreword**

The earth's climate is already changing in ways that are damaging to human well being. A failure to seal the deal in Copenhagen will lead inexorably to faster and more dangerous climate change and greater harm to human beings. This will undermine the global drive to reduce poverty by threatening the food, water and energy security which are the foundations of prosperity.

The increasingly mature public debate on climate change has focussed predominantly on the scientific and economic challenges of a rapidly changing climate. Less attention has been paid to what this might mean for the daily lives of billions of people. Nor has there yet been a wide ranging debate on what the success or failure would mean for the global system on which our prosperity and security depend.

This report charts the intimate interaction of climate change with other key issues on the global agenda. It identifies the requirement this places on governments and international agencies to develop a new level of policy coherence. It warns business that both the success or failure of climate policy will transform the landscape of risk and opportunity for investment. It urges the faster and more imaginative development of partnerships between governments, international agencies, businesses and civil society organisations.

Above all, it stresses the urgency of the climate problem facing humanity and the magnitude of the changes we must make cooperatively if climate events are not to force changes that will please no-one. It argues that a failure to deal successfully with this challenge not only puts at risk the global effort to reduce poverty but also political support for the institutions of international cooperation on which that effort has been based.

United Nations Global Compact September 2009

### Introduction

It is now clear that climate change poses a systemic risk to human well being. A systemic risk¹ is one where failure causes a cascade of contingent failures which in turn leads to the collapse of a whole system. In this case, that system is the global economy. By analogy with a very large bank in the global financial system, a stable climate is an environmental component of the global economy that is simply too big to be allowed to fail.

This paper explores briefly the policy linkages between climate change and a nexus of key resource issues that underpin the robustness of the global economy and its ability to deliver poverty alleviation and the other human needs codified in the Millennium Development Goals. It outlines some of the consequences of policy failure for governments and for business and suggests some of the steps needed to bring about the necessary policy coherence for success.

We now have a precise indicator of what constitutes such policy success. Earlier this year, at a meeting of the Major Economies Forum in L'Aquila, Italy, the leaders of the world's largest economies accepted the scientific advice that 'the increase in global average temperature above pre-industrial levels ought not to exceed 2°C'. In practice, they defined this point as the threshold of dangerous climate change.

This sets a clear mission for the meeting in Copenhagen in December of COP 15 of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. The deal sealed at this meeting must be sufficiently ambitious and inclusive as to set the world clearly on a path to developing the low carbon economy necessary to keep the eventual rise in global average temperatures below 2°C.4 Above all it must give business the necessary policy certainty to be able to make the high capital, long-life investments central to delivering a low carbon economy.

Climate change is more than simply another environmental problem, one among a long list of unintended consequences of the rapid pace of human development since 1950. At stake is the current and future prosperity and security the whole global community and any prospect of a successful and equitable transition to sustainable development.

Climate change transforms the landscape of risk and opportunity for everyone — gov-

ernments, businesses and civil society alike. Finding and delivering solutions is a task that requires the business community to play a central role. It cannot do this without robust policy frameworks from governments and widespread support from civil society. Above all, the urgency and scale of the task will require relationships within and between these social partners dominated by cooperation and collaboration.

#### A Unique Problem

Among the array of problems facing mankind, climate change has three unique characteristics that pose distinctive challenges to policy makers of all kinds.

First, it is a problem that is more truly global than any other. The livelihood of literally every single person in every single nation will be affected by a changing climate. Far too many people lead lives constrained by poverty, violence, ignorance and ill-health. But they share the planet with others who lead lives that are affluent, peaceful, educated and healthy. Everyone, for better or for worse, will live with the consequences of climate change.

This characteristic creates an entanglement of interests unprecedented in history. Perhaps more importantly, while there might be hard power consequences to a failure of climate policy, there are no hard power solutions to the problem. It cannot be solved by one nation imposing its will on another.

The only climate solutions available require an intensity and persistence of cooperation between nations not so far seen. Since cooperation between governments is never one dimensional this means climate policy success is ultimately predicated on the development of a global system that is fundamentally more cooperative than at present.

Second, **policy failure is not an option**. The development of public policy is typically empirical. Human beings learn by doing. Policy measures are adopted, monitored for effectiveness, reviewed to take account of changing circumstances and revised as necessary. Other social or political goals not achieved today can be pursued again tomorrow. This is not true for climate change.

The long lifetime of carbon dioxide in the

atmosphere — many centuries — means that we are committed irrevocably and, in policy terms, indefinitely, to whatever climate is generated by the carbon burden in the atmosphere at the point of stabilization. If we fail to stabilise greenhouse gas concentrations at a level compatible with staying below 2°C<sup>5</sup> we cannot try again later to achieve this goal.

Third, there is a specific time frame within which action must be taken. The build up of carbon in the atmosphere is cumulative and effectively irreversible. Climate scientists are now confident that for there to be a reasonable probability of keeping the eventual rise in global average temperatures to below  $2^{\circ}$ C the concentration of greenhouse gases should not rise beyond  $450 \text{ppmCO}_{2e}$ . To remain within this boundary condition, global carbon emissions must peak within the period 2015-2020 and decline rapidly thereafter. §

Thus not only must climate policy meet a precisely specified goal if it is to be successful, it must do so within a clearly defined window of opportunity or it will have failed anyway. In other words, achieving the emissions reductions required to remain within the 2°C threshold too late is, for all practical purposes, the same as not achieving them at all.

#### Success and Failure

Recent evidence suggests that adverse changes to the climate are likely to be more rapid and more severe even than those reported by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) just two years ago. Climate change will transform the landscape of risk and opportunity for countries, for companies and for citizens everywhere. This is equally true whether climate policy succeeds or fails.

The business world has yet to grasp how profoundly climate change transforms the landscape of risk and opportunity. Its has focussed its attention predominantly on the first order impacts of climate change on costs and near term market issues. There is not yet a mature debate within much of the business world on how the interactions between climate change and other issues on the global agenda will impact the fundamental international structures on which all business success is predicated.

Climate policy success requires the accomplishment of a carbon neutral global energy system by about the middle of the century, as well as a significant reduction in the rate of loss of tropical forest and a transformation of

agriculture and water management practises and the scale and nature of much civic infrastructure. This will entail a massive change in both public and private investment patterns from those expected on a business as usual trajectory.<sup>10</sup>

Policy failure will compound other resource stresses in the global economy since a changing climate acts as a stress multiplier. Fundamental to the achievement of a prosperous, secure and equitable world is the provision of reliable and affordable access to food, water and energy for all 6.5 billion people now on the planet and for the additional 2.5 billion that will be added before the middle of this century. Unmanaged climate change, by altering the variability of precipitation, extreme weather events and other impacts, will greatly increase the cost and difficulty of meeting this daunting challenge.

Climate policy failure thus puts at risk the global framework of policies and institutions central to the considerable advances in human welfare that have occurred over half a century. This framework is already under stress from the collapse of confidence in the global financial system and the subsequent severe economic downturn.

#### Threat to Globalisation<sup>13</sup>

There is an increased risk that, as publics lose confidence in their government's ability to deliver prosperity and security, support for a multilateral, rules based global system rooted in progressive trade liberalization will diminish. Unmanaged climate change, by undermining food, water and energy security, threatens the internal social and political stability on which cooperative international efforts depends thus compounding existing threats to the open markets on which prosperity depends.

Climate policy thus stands at the apex of a geopolitical fulcrum. On one side lies the continuing development of a multilateral global system that has consistently improved human welfare for more than fifty years. On the other lies a return to a mercantilist and nationalist past that cannot, in any case, support the aspirations of a world of 9 billion people. Climate policy success maintains the globalisation that underpins prosperity and security. Policy failure will eventually bring globalisation to a halt. This makes climate policy success an imperative not an option if other global goals are to be achieved.

### **Background**

The sixty years since the end of the Second World War have seen an improvement in human welfare unprecedented in history. More people live longer, healthier lives, with more prosperity and greater security than ever before in history.

Between 1960 and 2007 world population more than doubled to over 6.5 billion people. The global economy expanded to six times its previous size. GDP per capita grew more than four times in the same period to over \$6,300. Food production globally increased by more than 160%.

Life expectancy at birth has increased dramatically. In 1950, the global average was 46.6 years. Today it is 67.6 years. <sup>18</sup> Global averages must always be interpreted with care. In some of the richer countries the figure is over 80 years while in some other countries it is still well below the average, and in a small number, actually falling.

Similarly, infant mortality at birth has declined 65% from 152 per thousand births to today's 52 per thousand births. <sup>19</sup> The mortality rate for infants under 5 has also fallen by half. <sup>20</sup> These declines, together with the spread of birth control programmes and the rapid increase in education of women and girls have helped cut fertility rates in half, from 5 to 2.5 per woman, since 1950 thus contributing to a progressive reduction in the rate of global population growth. <sup>21</sup>

There has been a massive increase in access to primary and secondary education. Today some 86% of all children complete primary education and in 56 richer countries over 90% go on to secondary education. In the developing world more than half of those entering primary education now make this transition in all but 18 countries. Interestingly, in many developing countries more girls than boys go through to secondary education. This has led to an increase in adult literacy from 56% in 1950 to over 82% today.

But these benefits are a long way from being available to all. 1.4 billion people still live in extreme poverty struggling to survive on a marginal income of about a dollar a day. 26 Global aggregates conceal large disparities between and within countries. Over 800 million people are still under-

nourished, mostly, but not exclusively, in developing countries.<sup>27</sup> More than a billion people lack access to safe drinking water and more than twice as many are without adequate sanitation.<sup>28</sup> One and a half billion have no access to electricity and are thus even more disadvantaged in an increasingly connected world.<sup>29</sup>

#### **Institutional Foundations**

The progress in building a more prosperous and equitable world that has taken place over the past half century is not a given. It is the product of an increasingly focussed effort on the part of governments, companies and citizens. That effort must be further intensified as the century unfolds, not only for the well-being of those already alive, but also to ensure the well-being of the 2.5 billion additional people that will arrive by 2050, the majority of whom will be born in the poorer parts of the world.

Underpinning this extraordinary achievement has been the growth of an extensive network of multilateral institutions starting with the foundation of the United Nations itself. Without peace, prosperity is not possible. Born out of a rejection of the nationalism that led to the catastrophic first half of the 20th Century, the United Nations family of organisations has worked for 60 years to preserve peace, support development and promote human rights. In doing so it has given concrete expression of the benefit to all of the values and habits of multilateralism which provide the essential stability on which investment depends.

Peace alone does not guarantee prosperity. Simultaneously with the creation of the United Nations came the effort to forestall the economic nationalism that had intensified the political stresses in the same half century. The outcome was the establishment of the Bretton Woods institutions: the IMF, charged with promoting international monetary cooperation and exchange rate stability, and the World Bank, charged with reducing global poverty and promoting growth.<sup>30</sup>

The third of the these central institutional pillars on which post-war prosperity has been built was the creation of the World Trade Organisation (WTO). Its task was the promotion of open markets though the lowering of barriers to trade and the movement of capital.<sup>31</sup> Its birth was difficult, the initial effort to create the International Trade Organisation failed. This was succeeded by the less binding General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) which over a period of 40 years, and seven rounds of increasingly complex negotiations led to the creation of the WTO as the guardian of the rules based global trading system that we know today.<sup>32</sup>

As memories of the catastrophe that impelled their creation have faded, so doubt about the value and efficacy of all three institutional pillars has become pervasive. Deepening these doubts have been the stresses arising from the unintended consequences of the astonishing rapidity with which population, technological innovation and economic development have grown.

#### The Uncounted Cost

The spectacular economic progress of the second half of the 20th Century was accompanied by a considerable and largely unaccounted for cost in damage to the ecological foundations of the economy. The seriousness of this problem was first recognised towards the end of the 1960s and led to the convening of the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment in Stockholm in 1972. This was the first in a series of global conferences that ran through the Earth Summit in Brazil in 1992 to the World Summit on Sustainable Development in Johannesburg in 2002.

The indicators of environmental stress appeared in many forms, most immediately as gross air and water pollution with significant impacts on human health as well as on biodiversity and buildings. Persistent bio-accumulative toxins were found building

up in both humans and animals. There was growing public anxiety about the management of hazardous and radioactive wastes.

There was also a growing loss of natural habitats. More land was converted to cropland between 1950 and 1980 than in the 150 years of agricultural expansion between 1700 and 1850.<sup>33</sup> Cultivated systems now cover about a quarter of the Earth's terrestrial surface. Over 40% of the world's coral reefs have been lost or degraded in recent decades at the same time as at least a third of all mangroves were destroyed.<sup>34</sup> The rate of species extinction is now about 1,000 times more than the background rate.<sup>35</sup>

Of even greater concern is the growing impact of human activities on the very large scale natural processes. Rather than damaging the health of individual human beings these issues threaten the health of the economy as a whole.<sup>36</sup> Water withdrawals from lakes and rivers for irrigation, urban or industrial use doubled between 1960 and 2000.<sup>37</sup> Projections of future water demand, without considering any climate impacts, suggest that by 2025 it will exceed the total 14,000 cubic kilometres a year easily accessible for human use.

Since 1960 flows of reactive nitrogen in terrestrial ecosystems have doubled and flows of phosphorus have tripled.<sup>38</sup> The nitrogen flows are now almost equal to those observed in natural processes. The atmospheric concentration of carbon dioxide has increased to 385 parts per million, 32% above pre-industrial levels.<sup>39</sup> Apart from climate change this has led to an increase in ocean acidity by 30% — an increase in acidity for marine organisms more rapid than any experienced in the last 20 million years.<sup>40</sup>

These signals of intensifying environmental stress led to two overlapping waves of policy response. The first wave, initiated by the Stockholm Conference, led to successful

action in many parts of the world to reduce the impact on human health of the environmental stresses resulting from gross air and water pollution, the accumulation of toxic chemicals and mismanagement of wastes.

Not all of these gains, however, were a result of environmental policy. As basic industrial production moved over time to the emerging economies, so too did the accompanying pollution. Acute impacts on human health from gross air and water pollution are now to be found in many urban areas in those economies, Nevertheless, the technologies and policy measures to address these problems are now well understood and increasingly applied everywhere.

The second wave of policy response tackled the resource issues. These issues — climate change, deforestation, water availability, biodiversity loss, fisheries collapse, soil loss — are now the dominant issues on the environmental agenda. They came more sharply into focus at the Earth Summit in 1992. A successful policy response to them has been more elusive, in part because they are significantly more difficult with impacts that pervade the whole economy. Effective policy responses are not yet well understood and the institutional arrangements to implement them remain immature.

#### Sustainable Development

The need to bring about a more coherent alignment of economic development imperatives with the necessity to maintain the productivity of its resource foundations was recognised by 1987. In that year the Brundtland Report was published. Its core message was that the world needed to make a transition to sustainable development which it defined as development which meets 'the needs of the present without compromising

the ability of future generations to meet their own needs'.<sup>41</sup>

This definition remains robust today. During the great economic expansion launched by the industrial revolution it quickly became apparent that very rapid economic growth precipitated very large social change. That social change, unmanaged, threatened to undermine social and political stability on which that growth depended during the 19th Century. The lesson learnt was that it was vital to maintain social cohesion if the economy was to continue to grow.

It is now universally accepted that part of the proceeds of economic growth must be invested in maintaining the social conditions for growth or the economy will be undermined. This investment principally takes the form of providing a social security safety net, healthcare and education. Debate continues on the best way in each country to maintain those conditions and will doubtless do so into the future. But there is no longer an argument that if economic development is to continue then the social conditions for growth must be maintained.

The combination of very rapid population growth, vastly increased technological ability and accelerating economic development that has characterised the last 60 years has precipitated a magnitude of environmental change that now threatens to undermine the environmental conditions for economic development to continue. The challenge of sustainable development is to invest enough of the proceeds of today's economic development to maintain those environmental conditions into the future.

### The Pillars of Prosperity

The most important of those conditions is a stable climate. Without a stable climate food and water security, which are the foundations of economic development, become increasingly difficult, and eventually impossible, to guarantee. Climate change is a consequence of providing our economy with the secure and affordable energy services on which economic growth depends largely by the extensive combustion of fossil fuels.

Thus climate security, food security, water security and energy security form an interlocking set of resource pillars which underpin prosperity. If the productivity of those pillars degrades then so to does the productivity of the economy as a whole. If that decline is deep and prolonged then political support for the institutional pillars underpinning the economic success of the past fifty years will be undermined.

No government will put at risk energy, water or food security in order to achieve climate security. These are more familiar risks for government's to manage and are issues where policy failure has very immediate political consequences. Not surprisingly, for a majority of governments they currently take priority over climate security. Allowing the more immediate to obscure the more urgent is not an uncommon cause of policy failure.

We know from experience that it is possible for nations to recover from a loss of energy, water or food security, albeit it at great human and economic cost. The same is not true for climate security. Once lost it cannot be regained. The time bound nature of the climate problem thus makes it more urgent, though less immediate, than the resource issues with which it is closely interlocked. This leads to a significant risk that without a far deeper understanding of the dynamics of this complex nexus of issues governments will adopt policies with perverse or contradictory consequences which will greatly inhibit the ability of business to play its part in meeting the challenge effectively.

#### **Climate Security**

The IPCC concluded in 2007 both that it was beyond doubt that climate change was occurring and that human activities were responsible.42 These activities have led to an increase in the concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere, principally carbon dioxide which alone accounts for about two thirds of the resultant warming.43 Some 85% of that carbon dioxide results from the combustion of fossil fuels.44 The rest comes from land use changes, including the burning of forests. The remaining third of the greenhouse gases comes from a variety of industrial process and from agriculture. The concentration of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere is now 385 parts per million (ppm), up from the pre-industrial level of 280 ppm. It is rising at a slowly accelerating rate of about 2.0ppm a year.45 46

The IPCC concluded that to be very confident of keeping the eventual temperature rise to the 2°C threshold the carbon dioxide concentration would need to stabilise at 400ppm. If the other greenhouse gases are included and an allowance is made for the cooling effect of aerosols, it is estimated that a  $\rm CO_{2e}$  concentration of 450ppm would create a 50-50 chance of staying within that limit.<sup>47</sup>

Since 1800 total carbon emissions from human activities have been increasing at about 2% a year. 48 However the emissions from fossil fuels have accelerated since 2000 and are now growing at 3.4% a year. This is at the upper end of the range used by the IPCC. To be confident of avoiding dangerous climate change we should reduce carbon emissions by 60-80% immediately.

Such a drastic immediate reduction is not possible. This worsens the odds against constraining the eventual temperature rise to 2°C. The advice from climate scientists is that, if global emissions peak by 2015 and reduce quickly thereafter, there remains a reasonable chance of staying below the 2°C threshold. If global carbon emissions do not peak until after 2020 then they would need to decline by more than 5% a year to retain this chance.<sup>49</sup>

#### **Energy security**

However, these emissions reductions must occur without compromising the affordable and reliable access of a growing number of people to the energy services on which prosperity, indeed modern civilisation itself, depends. Even without having to deal with climate change delivering energy security presents an enormous challenge. Nearly a quarter of the world — some 1.5 billion people — still lacks access to electricity. The International Energy Agency (IEA) estimates that to meet the world's growing demand for energy will require an investment of some \$26 trillion between now and 2030. The stillion between now and 2030.

The IEA's current World Energy Outlook projects global primary energy demand to grow by 1.6% a year to 2030. By then fossil fuels will account for 80% of the world's primary energy mix with demand for coal rising faster than any other fuel. This will drive energy related carbon dioxide emissions up 45% to 41GtCO<sub>2</sub> a year.<sup>52</sup>

Adding in the carbon dioxide emissions from non-energy sources and those from all the other greenhouse gases leads to total emissions of 60GtCO<sub>2e</sub> by 2030. The energy sector would be contributing nearly 70% of the annual addition to the total carbon burden which could then be increasing at a rate of over 4.0ppm per year.

These two data sets define a shared dilemma for the governments of the world. Without an increase in energy services on the scale projected by the IEA sustaining the economic growth necessary to maintain social and political stability and to alleviate poverty will be impossible. But if that energy growth is delivered primarily by current fossil fuel intensive technologies, as projected, then avoiding dangerous climate change which will also undermine social and political stability becomes impossible.

This is a true dilemma. Choosing one of the horns means being driven to the same unacceptable outcome by the other. Nor is searching for an illusory trade-off between the horns a solution. This simply increases the risk of achieving neither a sufficient increase in energy services nor avoiding dangerous climate change. True dilemmas must be resolved by meeting both goals simultaneously — in effect, by using investment, innovation and ingenuity to step out from between the horns.

#### **Food Security**

Difficult as this task already is, it is made more difficult by the intimacy of the relationship between energy and climate security on the one hand and food and water security on the other. The sudden and sharp spike in global food prices in 2008 was a timely reminder of the political importance of food security. It led to food riots in over 60 countries and, indirectly, to regime change in one.<sup>53</sup>

Nearly a billion people remain undernourished<sup>54</sup> despite the massive increase in food production over the past fifty years. Agriculture is the dominant human impact on land and water resources. About a quarter of the world's ice-free land surface is used for crop cultivation or pasture. This produces, among other crops, 2 billion tonnes of grains a year providing about two-thirds of human protein intake.<sup>55</sup>

The current level of food production is highly dependent on cheap energy, particularly oil and gas, along the whole supply chain from farm to consumer. Cultivation, processing, refrigeration, shipping and distribution are all energy intensive steps in this supply chain, becoming more so as the shift of rural populations into the cities continues. This helps make agriculture a major emitter of greenhouse gases, responsible for about a third of the total from human activities — some 13-15 GtCO<sub>20</sub> a year.<sup>56</sup>

Global agriculture is under increasing stress from high energy prices, competition from biofuels and the progressive loss of productive land to urbanisation, erosion, salinisation and desertification. As incomes rise, diets change to include more meat and dairy products whose production is itself increasingly grain intensive thus adding to these stresses.

The combined effect of projected population and income growth has led the Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO) to project a doubling of world food demand by 2050.<sup>57</sup> Expanding food production to meeting this demand growth in the face of tightening constraints on land and water availability will be very energy intensive.

Climate change will increase these stresses both directly and indirectly. It is now clear that the temperature increase of 1-2°C to which we are already committed will reduce crop yields in seasonally dry and tropical regions. Researchers expect some benefits to crops and pasture in higher latitudes. Beyond the 2°C threshold, however, the likelihood is that there will be negative effects in all regions. They will fall particularly heavily on semi-tropical and tropical regions. <sup>58</sup>

Food production will also be negatively affected by climate change induced increases in crop, livestock and human pests, by extreme weather events, including both extended floods and droughts and by fire. The diminished predictability of the weather in a changing climate will compound the difficulty for farmers of making efficient planting choices.

Even when adequate food is produced in many parts of the world climate damage to critical infrastructure will deny access to it for vulnerable populations, sometimes for prolonged periods.<sup>59</sup> Furthermore, the climate induced spread of infectious diseases to new areas can cause or compound hunger though negative effects on human food utilisation.

150 million tonnes of fish and other aquatic products are consumed each year. About a quarter of global commercial fish stocks are already over-exploited, depleted or recovering. <sup>60</sup> Half are being fished to full capacity. Both the rising ocean temperatures and increased acidification resulting from greenhouse gas emissions are already compounding these stresses by changing the distribution of migratory species and the productivity of the oceanic food chain.

#### **Water Security**

In the past fifty years population growth and increased demand have combined to cut the freshwater per person available globally in half.<sup>61</sup> Historically, water use has increased almost twice as fast as population. Already some 2.8 billion people live in areas of high water stress.<sup>62</sup> On current trends that is expected to increase to 3.9 billion by 2030. Since the nineties, water prices globally have risen at a marginally faster rate than oil prices.<sup>63</sup>

Access to an adequate supply of clean water is essential for life. 1.1 billion people live without clean drinking water and more than twice as many lack adequate sanitation. As a consequence,1.8 million people die every year from diarrhoeal diseases.<sup>64</sup> Although some 80% of agriculture is rainfed, the 18% that relies on irrigation has yields 2-3 times higher delivering over 1 billion tonnes of grain each year.<sup>65</sup>

The 2005 Millennium Ecosystem Assessment warned that it would not be possible to sustain food production or poverty reduction if the water environment were compromised too severely. 70 major rivers around the world are near maximum extraction levels to supply water for irrigation systems and for reservoirs, including the Colorado, Ganges, Jordan, Nile and Tigris-Euphrates rivers. <sup>66</sup> Several, including the Yangtze, Colorado and Murray, struggle, and sometimes fail, to reach the sea.

Agriculture is by far the largest consumer of water at 70%, industry, including energy, uses 23% and households about 8%. As urban populations grow — to some 60% of the total by 2030 — and economies industrialise an increasing proportion of their water goes to domestic and industrial uses and less to agriculture. Under investment in pollution controls and wastewater treatment further reduces the amount of useable water in many parts of the world.

Water systems are themselves intensive users of energy. Some 4% of US electricity is used for the collection, transfer, purification, distribution and waste treatment of water.<sup>69</sup> As water tables drop, by as much as 1 metre a year in many parts of the world, more energy is needed for pumping.<sup>70</sup> The increased use of desalinisation plants and large scale water transfer projects to maintain water security will further increase the energy intensity of water provision. Rising energy prices will thus have a significant impact on water security, especially in the poorer parts of the world.

Climate change adds further stress to the water system. In arid and semi-arid areas at low latitudes there will simply be less water available. Most dramatically, it will diminish the availability of water from glaciers.<sup>71</sup>

Across much of Central Asia, Latin America and South Asia rural livelihoods depend on glaciers. The glaciers of the Himalayas and Tibet alone feed seven of the world's greatest rivers — the Brahmaputra, Ganges, Indus, Irrawaddy, Mekong, Salween and Yangtze — that provide water to more than 2 billion people. These glacial water banks are already melting at an accelerating rate. In the 1990s, glacial mass fell at more than twice the rate of the previous decade.<sup>72</sup>

Particularly difficult will be the increase in the variability of timing, intensity and distribution of precipitation. A future to which the past is no guide complicates the task of water infrastructure planners and inevitably increases the cost of its provision. In coastal areas, rising sea level is already leading to the salinisation of coastal aquifers. Flooding from extreme weather events damages both water quality and the integrity of water infrastructure.

#### Managing the Pillars

These stresses on the pillars of prosperity are not unmanageable. There is no doubt that humanity possesses the technical competence to do so effectively. There is a deep and growing understanding of the stresses. Essential technologies and appropriate engineering skills are already in existence. Furthermore, it is also clear that there is no fundamental economic barrier to their management, although there are large barriers to the equitable al-

location of the necessary capital.

The complexity and dynamic nature of the relationship between these pillars, however does present difficulties which are not yet well understood either by governments or by business. Tackling climate change successfully will require a well articulated conversation between business and government at every level from the local to the global. This cannot occur of both continue to address these deeply entwined issues in separate silos. Managing these interactions effectively will require the achievement of a step change in the level of policy coherence by governments. Businesses will need to understand and play a part in this change to ensure good alignment between public policy and investment decisions. But even the achievement of more coherent policy designs will do little to change outcomes if those policies are not adopted and vigorously implemented.

The institutional structures governments currently have in place to tackle these issues treat each one separately. Typically, energy, water, food and climate are each dealt with by different government departments and agencies. Each has a separate constellation of supporting professionals and cluster of related businesses. This significantly increases the risk of policy cannibalism as the solutions to one problem add to the difficulties of another. There are few greater disincentives to business investments than the uncertainty created by policy conflict.

Threatened water security can be addressed by energy intensive desalinisation and water transfer projects but at the risk of undermining energy security by increasing dependence on expensive imports. If the extra energy is provided by the combustion of fossil fuels that will undermine climate security and eventually the water security being sought.

If lower water security threatens food security by climate altered precipitation this can be compensated by the use of energy intensive agro-chemicals and water transfer projects. But, if the additional energy is

provided from fossil fuels this increases the risk of further altering precipitation patterns and raising temperatures, thus undermining both water and food security.

Little is gained if the policy effort to strengthen one of the pillars of prosperity simply weakens another. In particular, poor policy coherence undermines the ability of the business world to make confident and timely investment decisions. It also complicates the task of aligning collaborative efforts along the business supply chain to manage this nexus of risks efficiently.

The scale and urgency of the social and economic change needed to step out successfully from between the horns of this set of policy dilemmas presents a profound challenge to politicians as well as to policy makers. Without political will the transformational change needed will not occur. By the same token, it presents an equally profound challenge to the business community to develop business processes which connect up the internal conversation about these risks with the core business conversation.

Political will is more than just the expression of best intentions. It is the willingness and ability to communicate effectively to established economic interests and the wider public the need for and scale of change; to develop a strategy for bringing it about and to allocate the necessary financial and institutional resources to implement that strategy.

To manage the pillars of prosperity well in the face of these interacting stresses politicians will need to build a wide base of business and public support for more coherent public policy making. For business to play its full part it must understand these external pressures as comprehensively as it currently understands its market, financial and operational pressures. This need to create a better alignment between policy and politics makes good governance central to the maintenance of the pillars of prosperity and thus to human well being.

### **Consequences for People**

The public discourse on climate change has focussed extensively on the confidence to be placed in climate science and the magnitude and pace of the projected changes. A great deal is now widely understood about the impact of rising global average temperatures on sea level rise, ice-sheets, the occurrence and severity of extreme weather events and other bio-geo-physical effects.

There is a deepening understanding of how this might affect the global economy and of the scale and nature of the change that must occur in the global energy system to mitigate climate change. It is also widely accepted that considerable resources must be devoted to adapting to the amount of climate change to which we are already committed.

But far less of the public discourse to date has addressed the impact of a changing climate on the daily lives and livelihood of individuals. The full scope, scale and timing of these impacts are poorly understood by policy makers and have yet to add significant impetus to the urgency of policy response. There has been a persistent perception that the direct impacts of climate change on human well being are some way off in the future. The recent publication of 'The Anatomy of a Silent Crisis' by the Global Humanitarian Forum<sup>73</sup> has brought this issue into much clearer focus.

The report's principal finding was that climate change is **already** responsible for some 300,000 deaths a year, economic losses of some \$125 billion and serious damaging impacts on 325 million people. It concluded that 4 billion people were vulnerable to climate change and half a billion at extreme risk.

The economic losses already due to climate change are more than the individual GDP of three quarters of the world's nations and more than the total amount of all Overseas Development Assistance. Effectively, the world is taking away from the poor with one hand what it is giving with the other. The report acknowledged that these conclusions, based on projected trends, carried a significant margin

of error but pointed out that the real numbers could be higher as well as lower.

The negative impacts of climate change on individual human beings are both direct and indirect. The increased frequency of extreme weather events or exposure to storm surges in low-lying areas will have direct and immediate impacts on human well being. But elsewhere the impacts will often be less direct. As climate change stresses other stressors, often simultaneously, otherwise manageable circumstances become unmanageable. For three issues this is particularly important: displacement, conflict and health.

There are multiple drivers for the internal and international displacement of people and for intra- and inter- state conflicts. Climate change will thus rarely, if ever, be a single cause of an increase in conflict or displacement. As climate stress progressively increases it will further interact with these other drivers to accelerate and worsen the impact of conflict and displacement on human wellbeing. Similarly, human health is subject to multiple stresses which climate change will worsen as well as to direct impacts from physical injury or changing pathogen distribution.

#### Displacement

The people most vulnerable to displacement by climate change are those whose livelihoods are dependent on ecosystem services — subsistence farmers, pastoralists and fishermen. Migration, whether permanent or temporary, internal or international, is a traditional response of such populations to adverse changes in their circumstances.

Estimates of how much additional displacement will occur as a consequence of climate change vary greatly and are much disputed. To some extent this is because separating the particular climate change driver from the other displacement drivers is not easy. But it is also because of there

remain large uncertainties in forecasting climate impacts at a high enough resolution to identify the pressure to which a specific population will be subject.

The Global Humanitarian Project<sup>74</sup> estimated that about 7% of the 350 million people currently displaced could be attributed to climate change. The number of people permanently displaced by rising sea-levels, floods and droughts could reach 150-200 million by 2050.<sup>75</sup>

It may be more useful in our present state of knowledge to consider that some 2.8 billion people are already vulnerable to weather related disasters. The arid and semi-arid areas that cover 40% of the world's land surface are home to some 2.0 billion people. In both cases, it is already clear that the higher global average temperatures are permitted to rise the larger the fraction of these populations that will suffer temporary or permanent displacement.

Current analyses of, and policy responses to, displacement for the most part focus on movement out of rural areas into the cities. By 2050 some 60% of the global population will be urbanised. A large number of megacities are located in low lying coastal areas vulnerable to sea level rise. Little thought has yet been given to managing large scale displacement out of such cities.

#### Conflict

In recent months the United Kingdom has appointed a senior naval officer to the post of climate envoy in its Ministry of Defence. This is another marker of the growing awareness that climate change is a potentially significant driver of future conflict and thus a threat to national security. This appointment took place in the wake of the first ever debate at the United Nations Security Council in 2007. It was addressed by more countries than had ever previously spoken at a Council thematic debate. It also follows a spate of official assessments in the US, UK, the EU and other countries of the impact of climate change on national security.

As with displacement, and indeed often because of it, climate change is already intensifying the stresses that lead to conflict in many parts of the world. Land degradation and water scarcity frequently forces pastoralists onto lands occupied by farmers themselves already under stress. Extreme weather events in countries with weaker governance often result in extended breakdowns in security for communities. Where these intra-state pressures occur near international borders the resulting conflict can spread to neighbouring countries.

There is growing concern that water scarcity will lead to serious conflict between nations that share river basins. Over 260 of the world's major rivers are shared, with 37 flowing through four or more countries. These river basins occupy over 45% of the earth's land surface, account for some 60% of accessible freshwater and supply 40% of the world's population with water. During the past 50 years there have been at least 450 water related disputes between nations, leading to violent action by one nation against another on 37 occasions.<sup>77</sup>

To date increasing pressure on shared river basins has predominantly produced a cooperative response between nations. The stress being generated by increased water scarcity due to climate induced changes in precipitation patterns or loss of dry season glacial melt water is intensified by an accelerating programme of dam building both for electricity generation and water storage. There is a growing risk that this will now lead to conflict rather than cooperation.

The prospect of an ice free Arctic in the summer time is opening new areas of potential conflict as states scramble to assert jurisdiction over newly available resources. Changes in the movement of migratory species of fish as ocean temperature and salinity change in response to climate change could also generate conflict. The only occasions in the past sixty years on which NATO members have fired on each other have been during disputes over access to fisheries.<sup>78</sup>

#### Health

The most dramatic and immediate affects of climate change on heath are those that result directly from extreme weather events. Floods and droughts kill directly as do storms, fires and prolonged period of very high temperatures. All are expected to increase as the climate changes. The Global Humanitarian Report estimated that by 2030 the health of some 660 million people might be seriously affected by natural disasters.<sup>79</sup> This is almost twice the number of people expected to suffer from diabetes by then.

Other health impacts are mediated through ecological disturbances such as changes in the distribution or frequency of occurrence of disease vectors. A 2°C temperature rise could as much as double the geographic range of schistosomiasis in China endangering millions of people. In Alaska a 1°C rise in water temperature increased the exposure of people to gastro-enteritis by permitting summer-long proliferation of bacteria in shellfish.<sup>80</sup>

There is an approximately linear relationship between incidences of food poisoning and each degree of increase in temperature. Higher temperatures also increase the abundance and activity of flies and other disease transmitting pests. Malaria, dengue, and meningitis are all diseases where a changing climate will alter the distribution and occurrence of the exposure of human beings.<sup>81</sup>

A third set of climate impacts on human health arises as a result of both first and second order consequence of the disruptions to the ecosystem services described above. Both too little and too much water increases exposure to the diarrhoeal diseases resulting from an inadequate access to clean water and sanitation services. Poor nutrition weakens response to ill health however caused, especially for the very young and old. Extreme weather events not only do direct harm to people they also interrupt access to health services, sometimes for long periods. The displacement and conflict resulting from loss of food or water security not only cause physical harm but also much mental distress as yet a much overlooked aspect of the health affects of climate change.

#### The Millennium Development Goals

The Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) were developed out of the United Nations Millennium Declaration signed in September 2000. 192 members states of the United Nations and some 232 international organisations have adopted these goals. The intention is to reach them by 2015. Since their adoption they have guided public policy at all levels throughout the world. They have played a central part in the accelerated effort to bring more prosperous and secure lives to individuals in every part of the planet.

One way to assess the seriousness of the threat to people posed by dangerous climate change is to look at its likely impact on the achievement of these goals. These impacts, both direct and indirect, will interact with each other to magnify their full impact. By 2015 the contribution to the total carbon burden of emissions from the 1980s will by then be beginning to have an effect. Global average temperatures will be approaching 1°C above those at the end of the 19th Century.

# Goal 1: Eradicate extreme poverty and reduce hunger

Even at 1°C agricultural productivity in many parts of the world be lower, especially in Africa and Asia making the reduction of hunger more difficult to achieve. Both the impact of increased extreme weather occurrences and of the need to invest in measures to adapt to changing climate will divert public expenditure from meeting immediate poverty reduction needs. Climate related impacts on health will lower the productivity of workforces and thus prolong poverty.

# Goal 2: Achieve universal primary education

Considerable progress has been made towards achieving this goal. Climate change will impede further progress both by damaging or destroying essential infrastructure and by intensifying displacement of people away from their homes. In some parts of the world lost agricultural productivity will mean an increase in child labour.

## Goal 3: Promote gender equality and empower women

The loss of livelihoods in those populations most exposed to the early impacts of a changing climate falls disproportionately on women. In particular, greater water stress increases women's workload, renders infants and women themselves more vulnerable to disease and limits the amount of tie available to women to participate in income generation and decision making.

#### Goal 4: Reducing child mortality

Both the increase in water stress itself and the greater competition for limited public investment from other climate change related priorities will make the attainment of this goal more difficult. Furthermore children are more vulnerable to changes in the distribution of pathogens and to heatwaves. Climate change induced displacement and conflict has a particularly adverse effect on child mortality.

#### Goal 5: Improve maternal health

In addition to all the other ways in which a rapidly changing climate affects the health of everyone, both its negative effects on gender equality and the family disruption caused by displacement and conflict are additional risks to improved maternal health.

## Goal 6: Combat HIV/AIDS, malaria and other diseases

Climate change will increase the prevalence of malaria and other vector borne diseases and in doing so place additional economic and administrative stress on already overburdened public health services. This matters particularly to care-intensive conditions such as HIV/ AIDS. Loss of food security and the resulting increase in food prices and reduction in nutrition increases vulnerability to all diseases.

#### Goal 7: Ensure environmental sustainability

Over the course of this century climate change will become the dominant direct driver of biodiversity loss already at 1,000 times greater than the background rate. Even at temperature rises below 2°C many unique and threatened ecological systems are at risk. Above this level, climate change and environmental sustainability rapidly become incompatible.

# Goal 8: Develop a global partnership for development

A rapidly changing climate makes partnerships of any kind, at any level, less likely as conflict over resources and displacement of people destroy the partnership impulse. Conversely, the level of cooperation necessary to prevent dangerous climate change requires the building of such partnerships on a scale not yet seen in human history.

There would be value in a more systematic analysis of the impact of climate change at different levels, and at different points in the timeline, on the achievement of the MDGs both by each member state and by the international agencies which are committed to them.

### **Implications for Policy and Business**

There is no previous experience in history of governments attempting to deal with a problem that combines the scale, scope and urgency generated by the threat of dangerous climate change. Only the Second World War and the Cold War in the 20th Century have come anywhere close to presenting systemic risks of similar proportions.

The Second World War demonstrated the immense capacity of modern industrialised economies to transform their patterns of production extremely rapidly. Climate change requires a far greater change in those patterns. But more importantly, it requires that we bring it about without the compelling presence of a visible and dangerous enemy. This makes achieving the necessary mobilisation of effort by companies and citizens and the acceptance of a very strong role for government in aligning those efforts considerably more difficult. Since what is at stake for the business community is the social and political stability essential for investment it will need to play a higher profile and more pro-active role in mobilising the societal response to climate change than it might otherwise consider. Business cannot rely on government alone to build the broad base of support that will be needed.

The successful ending of the Cold War demonstrated that it was possible for the international community to sustain a concerted policy effort over many decades. To do so, many nations invested proportions of their national income in deploying weapons they hoped never to use. When those weapons became obsolete they were replaced with new and more expensive weapons in several cycles over half a century.

That this was a justified diversion of resources from more productive use in the face of a perceived systemic risk was not significantly doubted. But this effort was sustain-

able by governments in large part because there was a very broad understanding by the public of the consequences of policy failure. No such broad public understanding exists in the case of climate change which makes the task of mobilising and aligning efforts more difficult.

This mismatch between the intensity and urgency of the effort required and the perceived remoteness of the threat to every day life is a major obstacle to policy success. Governments and businesses are unlikely to find themselves soon being urged to more vigorous action by an aware and alarmed public. This will increasingly necessitate developing a framing for the issue that emphasises opportunity more than risk.

#### **Policy Coherence**

The complexity and intimacy of the links between energy, food, water and climate policy requires an unprecedented level of policy coherence at all levels of government and business. Without it there is a considerable risk that policy gains in one area will simply annihilate those in another. Furthermore, the resultant confusion will make it impossible for businesses, especially those making the long-life, high capital investments central to resolving these problems, to plan with confidence.

This means creating a far greater level of integration between different sets of institutions, knowledge centres, policy frameworks, analytic methodologies and funding methods than is currently the case. Since the structure of international organisations reflects to a considerable extent that of national governments, this integration must take place rapidly within nations if a complementary level of policy coherence is to be achieved among international agencies.

Achieving policy coherence is not simply a matter of policy design or institutional form. There are many different policy suites and institutional forms that can promote policy synergy and avoid policy conflict. They only work effectively, however, if there is the political will at the centre of government, actively and publicly supported by business leaders, focused on outcomes that require policy coherence. This is what occurs in wartime when the existence of an existential threat focuses political will on the over-riding goal of national survival.

Securing the integrity of the four resource pillars of prosperity — climate security, energy security, food security and water security — will require an even greater focusing of political will. In part, this is because the effort will have to be sustained over a far greater period of time than is typically the case with modern warfare. But it is also because no nation can preserve all of the pillars by its own efforts alone.

This characteristic of the problem nexus effectively dissolves the distinction between foreign and domestic policy. Since policy success depends as much on the actions of other nations as on each nation's own actions misalignments between domestic and foreign policy will undermine the trust on which successful collective action depends. It also requires a far stronger alignment between business and government strategy, particularly with international businesses, to work together to build the same mutual confidence.

The imperative to cooperate and to align domestic and foreign policy priorities much more closely emphasises the role of national leaders. It is only at this level that the authority to align national efforts to a cooperative purpose on the necessary scale exists.

This will mean building the appropriate awareness and staffing not only internally but also between nations. The response to the current global financial crisis has taken cooperative action to a new level of intensity. Policy success with climate change will

require a further step change. Similarly, business leaders will have to build the necessary capacity within their companies to play a fully informed part in this endeavour.

Building the shared awareness and high level of trust necessary for even more intense cooperation will require something more structured than the current meetings of part-time sherpas. To succeed their work will need to be underpinned by a shared analysis of the resource outlook. This already exists in partial form in the work of the IEA, the FAO, the IPCC and others but needs to be brought together into a more systematic World Resource Outlook covering climate, energy, water and food.

There has been a tentative trend in recent years for the kind of inter-operability between nations long practised in the national security sphere to extend beyond this realm. Typically, this takes the form of personnel secondments, shared training and joint exercises. This approach needs to be greatly extended to cover all four pillars and to include extensive participation by international agencies as well as national governments. Furthermore, since their role is central to policy success, such efforts should include business and non-governmental organisation personnel.

#### **Partnerships**

Policy success on this nexus of complex and interacting issues cannot be driven from the top down alone. Without alignment between top-down and bottom-up responses the necessary speed and scale of response will be very difficult to achieve. Partnerships of all kinds extending vertically, so that they reach across local, national, regional and global levels; geographically, so that they cross national and cultural boundaries and functionally, so that they involve public authorities, businesses and civil society are essential.

The world's capacity to build such partnerships in many forms has grown greatly over the past decade. Facilitated by the extension of the Internet, the falling cost of information and the increasing integration of communications technologies a previously unobtainable level of cooperation has become possible.

The development of public-private partnerships as a model for investment in public infrastructure has permitted a big increase in the ability of governments to leverage capital into supporting the provision of public goods. There are now extensive global issues and public policy networks that allow a crucial sharing of information and analysis to tunnel through institutional and geographic barriers. Multi-stakeholder processes bring together wide ranges of social actors and enable perspectives from the base of society to engage more effectively in decision making at all levels.

The prospects for policy success with climate change will be much improved by accelerating the development of these network centric approaches to public policy. Governments bring the authority and legitimacy to provide the frameworks of policy and regulation that are essential to mobilise the capital needed for business to play its full part. Policy uncertainty kills the innovation and ingenuity that only business can bring to the challenge. But that policy certainty is difficult to achieve if governments do not have the trust of society which the nongovernmental organisations are uniquely placed to win.

The world has had a brutal lesson in the risks of allowing the globalisation of capital flows to develop faster than the capacity of society to manage those risks. There is a similar asymmetry in the globalisation of resource use which is continuing to grow much faster than society's capacity to manage those risks.

The global economy is now too large, too integrated and too complex for a return to the kind of central planning used to tackle policy failure in the 20th Century. The alter-

native to a false choice between central planning or market driven approaches to climate policy is to accelerate the use of network centric approaches based on the versatility of an ever wider range of partnerships.

#### Transformation is Inevitable

Climate change will lead to a complete transformation of the human prospect. This is true whether climate policy succeeds or fails. If it succeeds the transformation will take place over the next thirty years. If it fails, the transformation that is already underway will accelerate gradually and become dramatic in the thirty years after that.

The choice is whether events or people drive that transformation. If people make the choice, then over the next thirty years the way energy is used will be transformed. This will bring with it a wide range of cobenefits in terms both of economic efficiency and human well being. In resolving the climate-energy security dilemma successfully the conditions will be created that make possible the preservation of food and water security and thus resource pillars of prosperity will be maintained.

If events drive the transformation then the global average temperature will rise inexorably and for all practical purposes, irreversibly. Food and water security will be undermined and ever larger numbers of people will be displaced, exposed to conflict and disease and subject to deeper climate induced poverty. In those circumstances preserving political support for the international institutions that have sustained the prosperity and security of billions of people over half a century will become progressively more difficult.

### **Endnotes**

- 1 Climate change was identified as a systemic risk by the OECD in a 2003 report, 'Emerging Risks in the 21st Century'. OECD, 2003.
- 2 The Stern Report estimated that failure to tackle climate change effectively could mean a permanent loss of as much as 20% of global GDP. It is hard not to imagine a loss of this magnitude leading to a collapse of the global economy. In later statements Stern has suggested that this may be an underestimate of the cost of climate change. Interview with Fiona Harvey published in Parliamentary Brief, May 2008.
- 3 Point Carbon, 2009. 'G8 Agree on 2°C Limit'.
- 4 UN Climate Chief Yvo De Boer made a statement to journalists at the UN Climate talks in Bonn, Germany in June that rich countries must make deeper cuts for global emission levels to remain in line with science, saying "It is clear that in the negotiations between now and the Copenhagen meeting in December, the level of ambition has to increase". He was referring to the 2007 report of the UN-backed panel of scientists which said developed countries would need to cut greenhouse gas emissions between 25-40 per cent under 1990 levels by 2020 to avoid runaway climate change. Interview published in Point Carbon, June 2009.
- 5 Using probability statistics synthesised from related research, the IPCC has demonstrated that it is necessary to stabilise atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases at around 450ppm CO<sub>2e</sub> to prevent a temperature increase of over 2°C above pre industrial levels. The chances of reaching this target decrease as atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases increase. IPCC, 2007. Fourth Assessment Report.
- 6 CO<sub>2e</sub>, carbon dioxide equivalent, defines the measured amount of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere plus the carbon forcing of other greenhouse gases expressed as their equivalent carbon dioxide concentration.
- 7 Hare, W.L. Chapter 2: A Safe Landing for the Climate. In State of the World: into a warming world, Worldwatch Institute 2009.
- 8 Ki Moon, B., 2009. Statement at Press Release on G8 and Major Economies Forum at L'Aquila, Italy 9 July 2009.
- 9 University of Copenhagen, 2009. Climate Change: Global Risk, Challenges and Decisions.
- 10 IEA analysis on stabilization scenarios (Blue Map Scenario) indicate financing required to keep atmospheric greenhouse gas concentra-

- tions stabilised at 450 ppm-eq, with a greater chance of keeping temperature increases between 2-3°C above pre-industrial levels amount to a total \$45 trillion an 18% increase over total baseline investment figures and representing an increase that is equivalent to 1.1% of cumulative GDP between 2005 and 2050. IEA, 2008a. Energy Technology Perspectives: Scenarios and Strategies to 2050.
- 11 United Nations Environment Programme, 2007. Global Environment Outlook 4: environment for development.
- 12 Stern Review, 2006. Stern Review on the Economics of Climate Change.
- 13 This was first pointed out by UN Secretary-General Ban Ki Moon in a speech to the World Business Summit on Climate Change in Copenhagen in May 2009.
- 14 United Nations Environment Programme, 2007. Global Environment Outlook 4: environment for development.
- 15 Ibid.
- 16 Ibid.
- 17 Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005.
- 18 United Nations, 2008. World Population Prospects 1950-2050: The 2008 Revision.
- 19 United Nations Development Programme, 2007. Human Development Report 2007/2008. Fighting Climate Change: Human Solidarity in a Divided World.
- 20 Ibid.
- 21 McKeown, et al., 2009. Vital Signs 2009: the trends that are shaping our future.
- 22 World Bank, 2009. World Development Indicators.
- 23 United Nations Development Programme, 2007. Human Development Report 2007/2008. Fighting Climate Change: Human Solidarity in a Divided World.
- 24 United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation, 2003. Global Monitoring Report 2003/04: Gender and Education for all — the leap to equality.
- 25 United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation, 2006. Education For All: literacy for life.
- 26 United Nations Development Programme, 2007. Human Development Report 2007/2008. Fighting Climate Change: Human Solidarity in a Divided World.
- 27 World Resources Institute, 2009. Earthtrends: Environmental Information.

- 28 Beaglehole et al., 2004. The World Health Report 2004: changing history.
- 29 World Resources Institute, 2009. Earthtrends: Environmental Information.
- 30 Bretton Woods Project, 2009.
- 31 World Trade Organisation, 2009.
- 32 Ibid.
- 33 Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005.
- 34 Ibid.
- 35 Ibid.
- 36 Ibid.
- 37 Ibid.
- 38 Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005.
- 39 Ibid.
- 40 Ocean Acidification Network, 2009. The Ocean in a High CO., World.
- 41 United Nations, 1987. Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development.
- 42 IPCC, 2007a. AR4 Summary for Policymakers.
- 43 University of Copenhagen, 2009. Climate Change: Global Risk, Challenges and Decisions.
- 44 Ibid.
- 45 University of Copenhagen, 2009. Climate Change: Global Risk, Challenges and Decisions.
- 46 The CO<sub>2e</sub> concentration is rising at about 3.0 ppm per year. The CO<sub>2e</sub> concentration is 463 ppm but this is offset by the cooling effect of aerosols such as sulphates and nitrates so that the effective concentration is 396 ppm.
- 47 IPCC, 2007a. AR4 Summary for Policymakers.
- 48 University of Copenhagen, 2009. Climate Change: Global Risk, Challenges and Decisions.
- 49 Ibid.
- 50 United Nations Development Programme, 2007. Human Development Report 2007/2008. Fighting Climate Change: Human Solidarity in a Divided World.
- 51 IEA, 2008. World Energy Outlook.
- 52 Ibid
- 53 The overthrow of the government of Madagascar in 2009 was initiated by popular opposition to the proposed sale of a very large area land to the Korean company, Daewoo to grow food for export to Korea.
- 54 Food and Agriculture Organisation, 2006. The State of Food Insecurity in the World: eradicating world hunger — taking stock ten years after the world food summit.
- 55 Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005.
- 56 University of Copenhagen, 2009. Climate Change: Global Risk, Challenges and Decisions.
- 57 Food and Agriculture Organisation, 2008b.

- Climate Change and Food Security: a framework document.
- 58 Stern Review, 2006; IPCC, 2007b; University of Copenhagen, 2009.
- 59 IPCC, 2007b. WGII Summary for Policymakers
- 60 Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005.
- 61 Barret, 2009. Water the Real Liquidity Crisis.
- 62 Water scarcity occurs when there is less than 1,700m3 of water available per person.
- 63 McKinsey, 2009. Pathways to a Low-Carbon Economy: version 2 of the global greenhouse gas abatement cost curve.
- 64 World Economic Forum, 2009. The Bubble Is Close to Bursting: A Forecast of the Main Economic and Geopolitical Water Issues Likely to Arise in the World during the Next Two Decades.
- 65 Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005.
- 66 Ibid.
- 67 Barret, 2009. Water the Real Liquidity Crisis.
- 68 World Economic Forum, 2009. The Bubble Is Close to Bursting: A Forecast of the Main Economic and Geopolitical Water Issues Likely to Arise in the World during the Next Two Decades.
- 69 World Economic Forum, 2009. The Bubble Is Close to Bursting: A Forecast of the Main Economic and Geopolitical Water Issues Likely to Arise in the World during the Next Two Decades.
- 70 Barret, 2009. Water the Real Liquidity Crisis.
- 71 IPCC, 2007b. WGII Summary for Policymakers.
- 72 United Nations Environment Programme, World Glacier Monitoring Service, 2009.
- 73 Global Humanitarian Forum, 2009. Human Impact Report, Climate Change: the anatomy of a silent crisis.
- 74 Global Humanitarian Forum, 2009. Human Impact Report, Climate Change: the anatomy of a silent crisis.
- 75 IPCC, 2007b; Stern Review, 2006.
- 76 Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005.
- 77 Myers, 2004. Environmental Security: what's new and different?
- 78 These events occurred in both the dispute over cod between Britain and Iceland and the dispute over Turbot between Spain and Canada.
- 79 Global Humanitarian Forum, 2009. Human Impact Report, Climate Change: the anatomy of a silent crisis.
- 80 University of Copenhagen, 2009. Climate Change: Global Risk, Challenges and Decisions.
- 81 IPCC, 2007b. WGII Summary for Policymakers.
- 82 IPCC, 2007b. WGII Summary for Policymakers.

### **Bibliography**

#### **Reports**

American Psychology Association (APA) (2009) Psychology and Global Climate Change: addressing a multi-faceted phenomenon and set of challenges. A report by the American Psychological Association's Task Force on the Interface Between Psychology and Global Climate Change. Available at http://www.apa.org/science/.

A.J. McMichael, et al, Eds. (2003) Climate Change and Human Health: risks and responses. Report for the World Health Organisation, Geneva 2003.

**Bailey, R. (2009)** The Right to Survive in a Changing Climate. Oxfam International Background Paper, April 2009: Oxford.

Barret, Max. (2009) Water – the Real Liquidity Crisis. Report for the. Standard Chartered Bank, 20 March 2009.

Bates, B.C., Z.W. Kundzewicz, S. Wu and J.P. Palutikof, Eds. (2008) Climate Change and Water. Technical Paper of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC Secretariat: Geneva.

**Beaglehole, R., A. Irwin and T. Prentice** (2004) The World Health Report 2004: changing history. Report for the World Health Organisation (WHO), Geneva.

**Brown, L. (2008a)** Adapted from Chapter 9, "Feeding Eight Billion Well," in *Plan B 3.0: Mobilizing to Save Civilization*. Earth Policy Institute: New York: W.W. Norton & Company, 2008, available at www.earthpolicy.org/Books/PB3/index.htm.

**Brown, L. (2008b)** Adapted from Chapter 3, "Rising Temperatures and Rising Seas," in *Plan B 3.0*: *Mobilizing to Save Civilization*. Earth Policy Institute: New York: W.W. Norton & Company, 2008, available at www.earthpolicy.org/Books/PB3/index.htm.

**Cotter, J. and R. Tirado. (2008)** Food Security and Climate Change: the answer is biodiversity, a review of scientific publications on climate change adaptation in agriculture. Greenpeace International. Available at http://www.greenpeace.org/australia/resources/reports/GE/foodsecurity-1208.

**Centre for Naval Analysis (2007)** *National Security and the Threat of Climate Change.* Washington, D.C.

European Commission (2008) Climate Change and International Security. Paper from the high representative and the European Commission to the European Council; Brussels. Available at http://www.consilium.europa.eu/ueDocs/cms\_Data/docs/pressData/en/reports/99387.pdf.

**European Commission (2007)** *Europeans and Nuclear Safety.* Report for the Special Eurobarameter 271/Wave 66.2 TNS Opinion & Social.

**Evans, A. (2009)** The feeding of the nine billion global food security for the 21st century. Chatham House, Royal Institute of International Affairs.

**Evans**, **A. (2008a)** *Multilateralism for an Age of Scarcity: building international capacity for energy, food and climate security.* Center on International Cooperation, New York University: New York.

**Evans, A. (2008b)** Rising Food Prices: drivers and implications for development. Chatham House Food Supply Project, April 2008.

Falkenmark, M., A. Berntell, A. Jägerskog, J. Lundqvist, M. Matz and H. Tropp (2007) On the Verge of a New Water Scarcity: A Call for Good Governance and Human Ingenuity.

Stockholm International Water Institute Policy Brief. SIWI, Sweden.

#### Food and Agriculture Organisation (2008a)

Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation: challenges and opportunities for food security. Report from the High Level Conference on World Food Security: the challenges of climate change and bioenergy, 3-5 June, 2008: Rome.

Food and Agriculture Organisation (2008b) Climate Change and Food Security: a framework document. FAO, available at http://www.reliefweb.int/rw/lib.nsf/db-900sid/PANA7KADCQ/\$file/fao\_may2008.pdf?openelement.

#### Food and Agriculture Organisation (2008c)

Climate Change, Water and Food Security. Technical Background Document From the Expert Consultation at the High Level Conference on World Food Security: the challenges of climate change and bioenergy, 26-28 February, 2008: Rome.

**Food and Agriculture Organisation (2008d)** The State of Food and Agriculture: biofuels – prospects, risks and opportunities. FAO: UN, Rome.

#### Food and Agriculture Organisation (2008e)

The State of Food Insecurity in the World 2008: high food prices and food security – threats and opportunities. FAO: UN, Rome.

#### Food and Agriculture Organisation (2006)

The State of Food Insecurity in the World: eradicating world hunger – taking stock ten years after the world food summit. FAO: UN, Rome.

**Global Humanitarian Forum (2009)** *Human Impact Report, Climate Change: the anatomy of a silent crisis.* Global Humanitarian Forum, Geneva. Available at http://www.preventionweb.net/files/9668\_humanimpactreport1.pdf.

**Harmeling, Sven (2009)** *Global Climate Risk Index 2009: weather related loss events and their impacts on countries in 2007 and in long term comparison.* Germanwatch Briefing Paper: Berlin.

Hare, W.L. (2009) A Safe Landing for the Climate In Worldwatch Institute (2009) *State of the World: Into a warming world, Chapter II.* 

**International Energy Agency (2007)** *World Energy Outlook: China and India Insights.* OECD/IEA, Paris.

**International Energy Agency (2008a)** *Energy Technology Perspectives: Scenarios and Strategies to 2050.* OECD/IEA, Paris.

**International Energy Agency (2008b)** World Energy Outlook 2008. IEA: Paris.

#### Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2007a) Summary for Policymak-

ers. In Climate Change 2007: Fourth Assessment Report, Synthesis Report (AR4). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

#### Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2007b) Summary for Policymak-

ers. In: Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson, Eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 7-22.

**Ki-moon, B. (2009)** Statement at Press Release on G8 and Major Economies Forum at L'Aquila, Italy 9 July 2009. Available at http://www.un.org/apps/sg/sgstats.asp?nid=3967.

**Kumar Duraiappah, A. and A. Bhardwaj** (2007) *Measuring Policy Coherence among the MEAs and MDGs.* Report for the International Institute for Sustainable Development, Winnipeg: Canada.

**Ludi, E. (2009)** *Climate Change, Water and Food Security. Overseas Development Institute* (ODI) Background Note. March 2009.

Mabey, N. (2008) Delivering Climate Security: international security responses to a climate changed world. Published on behalf of The Royal United Services Institute for Defence and Security Studies as part of the Whitehall Papers Series (No. 69).

Maplecroft, CARE and OCHA (2008) Humanitarian Implications of Climate Change: Mapping Emerging Trends and Risk Hotspots. Maplecroft, CARE, OCHA.

McKeown, A., E. Assadourian, Z. Chafe, A. Chiu, H. Doherty, R. Engleman, G. Gardner, B. Halweil, P. Low, J. Monfort, M. Renner, J. Riccio, J. Russell, J. Sain, and N. Swire (2009) Vital Signs 2009: the trends that are shaping our future. Worldwatch Institute: Washington, D.C.

McKinsey and Company (2009) Pathways to a Low-Carbon Economy: version 2 of the global greenhouse gas abatement cost curve. London: McKinsey and Company.

Mickwitz, P., F. Aix, S. Beck, D. Carss, N.Ferrand, C. Görg, A. Jensen, P. Kivimaa, C. Kuhlicke, W. Kuindersma, M. Máñez, M. Melanen, S. Monni, A. B. Pedersen, H. Reinert and S. van Bommel (2009) Climate Policy, Integration, Coherence and Governance. Report for the Partnership for European Environmental Research, Helsinki.

Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005) Overall Synthesis Report. Available at http://www. millenniumassessment.org/en/Index.aspx.

Modi, V., S. McDade, D. Lallement and J. Saghir. (2005) Energy Services for the Millennium Development Goals. Report for the United Nations Millennium Project: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/ The World Bank and United Nations Development Programme.

Morrison, J., M. Morikawa, M. Heberger, H.Cooley, P. Gleick, and M.Palaniappan (2009) Climate Change and the Global Water Crisis: what businesses need to know and do. Report for the United Nations Global Compact and the Pacific Institute, May 2009.

Myers, N. (2004) Environmental Security: What's New and Different? The Hague Conference on Environment, Security and Sustainable Development. The Peace Palace, The Hague, The Netherlands, 9-12 May 2004. Institute for Environmental Security. Available at: http://www.envirosecurity.org/conference/working/newanddifferent.pdf.

**Myers, N. (2005)** Environmental refugees: an emergent security issue. 13th Economic Forum. http://www.osce.org/ documents/eea/2005/05/14488\_en.pdf.

**OECD (2008)** Environmental Outlook to 2030. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development: Paris.

**OECD (2003)** Emerging Risks in the 21st Century: an OECD international futures project. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development: Paris.

**Purvis, N. and J. Busby (2004)** *The Security Implications of Climate Change for the UN System.* USAID Policy Brief on The United Nations and Environmental Security.

Raleigh, C. and H. Urdal (2009) Climate Change, Demography, Environmental Degradation, and Armed Conflict. Report for the USAID Environmental Change and Security Programme; New Directions in Demographic Security.

Rosegrant, M.W., M. Ewing, G. Yohe, I. Burton, S. Huq and R. Valmonte-Santos (2008) Climate Change and Agriculture: threats and opportunities. Report for GTZ Climate Protection Programme for Developing Countries. GTZ: Eschborn.

**Schuemer-Cross, T. and B. Heaven Taylor (2009)** The Right to Survive: the humanitarian challenge for the 21st century. Report for Oxfam International, April 2009: Oxford.

Schuster-Wallace, C.J., V. I. Grover, Z. Adeel, U. Confalonieri and S. Elliott (2008) Safe Water as the Key to Global Health. Report for the United Nations University International Network on Water, Environment and Health: Ontario. Canada.

**Stern Review (2006)** *Stern Review on the Economics of Climate Change.* HM Treasury.

**Tacoli, C. (2009)** *Crisis or adaptation? Migration and climate change in a context of high mobility.* Prepared for Expert Group Meeting on Population Dynamics and Climate Change UNFPA and IIED In Collaboration with UN-HABITAT and the Population Division, UN/DESA 24-25 June 2009.

**Tomlinson, S., P. Zorlu and C. Langley** (2008) *Innovation and Technology Transfer: Framework for a global climate deal.* E3G: Third Generation Environmentalism, London.

**United Kingdom Department for Transport (2008)** *Transport Trends: 2008 edition.* A National Statistics publication produced by Transport Statistics: DfT.

**United Nations (2008)** *World Population Prospects* 1950-2050: *The 2008 Revision.* Database. Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. New York.

**United Nations (1987)** Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development. UN General Assembly Resolution, 11 December, 1987. Available at http://www.un.org/documents/ga/res/42/ares42-187.htm.

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2009) The Millennium Development Goals Report: 2009. United Nations: New York.

**United Nations Development Programme** (2007) *Human Development Report* 2007/2008. Fighting Climate Change: Human Solidarity in a Divided World. UNDP, New York.

United Nations Development Policy and Analysis Division (2009) *Growth and Development Trends, 1960-2005.* Available from http://www.un.org/esa/policy/publications/publications.htm.

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (2006) Education For All: literacy for life. UNESCO Global Report, UNESCO Publishing.

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (2003) Global Monitoring Report 2003/04: Gender and Education for all—the leap to equality. UNESCO Publishing, Paris.

United Nations Environment Programme (2007) Global Environment Outlook 4: environment for development. Valetta, Malta.

United Nations Environment Programme and the World Glacier Monitoring Service (2009) Global Glacier Changes: facts and figures. Available at http://www.grid.unep.ch/glaciers/.

**United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (2008)** *Climate Change, Natural Disasters and Human Displacement: a UNHCR perspective.* UNHCR: Geneva.

United Nations World Tourism Organisation (2009) World Tourism Barometer. Volume 7, No. 2, June 2009.

**United Nations World Tourism Organisation (2008)** *Climate Change and Tourism: responding to global challenges.* UNWTO and UNEP, Spain.

University of Copenhagen (2009) Synthesis Report of "Climate Change: Global Risks, Challenges & Decisions" Congress, 10-12 March Copenhagen 2009.

Warner, K, Ehrhart, C, de Sherbinin, A and Adamo, S. (2009) In Search of Shelter: mapping the effects of climate change on human migration and displacement. Care International, United Nations University, Columbia University. Available at http://www.preventionweb.net/files/9870\_climmigrreportjune09final1.pdf.

World Business Council for Sustainable Development (2009) Water, Energy and Climate Change: a contribution from the business community. WBCSD: Geneva & Washington.

World Business Council for Sustainable Development (2008) *Adaptation: an issue brief* for business. WBCSD: Geneva & Washington. World Economic Forum (2008) Managing our Future Water Needs for Agriculture, Industry, Human Health and the Environment. Discussion Document for the World Economic Forum Annual Meeting 2008. WEF, Geneva.

World Economic Forum (2009) The Bubble Is Close to Bursting: A Forecast of the Main Economic and Geopolitical Water Issues Likely to Arise in the World during the Next Two Decades. Draft for Discussion at the World Economic Forum Annual Meeting 2009, WEF, Geneva.

**Worldwatch Institute (2009)** *State of the World: into a warming world, a year in review.* Worldwatch Institute: Washington, D.C.

#### **Key Links & Websites**

#### Bank for International Settlements (2009) http://www.bis.org/

#### **Bretton Woods Project (2009)**

#### DFT (2008) Transport Trends

http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/statistics/datatablespublications/trends/

#### Global Environmental Outlook 4 (2009) Data Portal

http://geodata.grid.unep.ch/

# International Institute for Sustainable Development (2009)

http://www.iisd.org/

# Internet World Stats (2009) World Internet Users and Population Stats

http://www.internetworldstats.com/stats.htm

### Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005) http://www.millenniumassessment.org/en/index.aspx

# Ocean Acidification Network (2009) The Ocean in a High CO<sub>2</sub> World

http://www.ocean-acidification.net/

# Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (2009)

http://www.oecd.org/home/0,3305,en\_2649\_2 01185\_1\_1\_1\_1\_1,00.html

#### Science Daily (2008)

http://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2008/06/080618143301.htm

#### Transport Statistics Great Britain (1998)

http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/roads/environment/cvtf/theenvironmentalimpactsofroa37 93?page=2

#### United Nations (2009)

http://www.un.org/en/

#### United Nations Global Compact (2009)

http://www.unglobalcompact.org

#### United Nations Industrial Development Organisation (2009)

http://www.unido.org/index.php

# World Bank (2009) World Development Indicators

http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTER-NAL/DATASTATISTICS/0,,contentMDK:21725423~pagePK:64133150~piPK:64133175~theSitePK:239419,00.html

## World Health Organisation (2009) Climate and Health

http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs266/en/index.html

#### World Resources Institute (2009) Earthtrends: Environmental Information

http://earthtrends.wri.org

#### World Trade Organisation (2009)

http://www.wto.org/; http://www.gatt.org/

#### **Presentations**

E3G (2006) International Development and Global Public Goods: an analytical framework. PowerPoint Presentation, prepared by E3G: Third Generation Environmentalism for the UK Department for International Development (DFID), September 2006. Available at http://www.e3g.org/images/uploads/GPGs\_-\_Conceptual\_Framework\_290807.pdf.

**UN Global Compact (2009)** Climate Change and Business: why is it vital to 'Seal the Deal' at COP15 in December 2009? PowerPoint Presentation, prepared by Georg Kell, UN Global Compact Caring for Climate Series.

#### **Articles**

APA Online (2009) 'Psychological Factors Help Explain Slow Reaction to Global Warming, says APA Task Force'. *American Psychology Association Press Release*, 5 August 2009. Available at http://www.apa.org/releases/climate-change.html?imw=Y.

Financial Times (2009) 'UK Must Produce as much Food as we can.' Financial Times, August 10, 2009. Available at http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/d4ecdb80-859a-11de-98de-00144feab-dc0.html.

Financial Times (2008) 'Not Stern Enough'. Financial Times, 7 May 2008. Available at http://www.parliamentarybrief.com/articles/1/new/not-stern-692\_0\_0.html.

Point Carbon (2009a) 'Developed Nations Must do More: De Boer'. Point Carbon, 10 June 2009. Available at http://www.pointcarbon.com/news/1.1135827.

**Point Carbon (2009b)** 'G8 Agree on 2°C Limit'. *Point Carbon,* 8 July 2009. Available at http://www.pointcarbon.com/news/1.1156399.

**Reuters (2009)** 'Climate Policies must overcome Psychological Barriers — Report'. *Reuters*, 7 August 2009. Available at http://www.reuters.com/article/idUS190715377520090807.

**Reuters (2009)** 'Psychological Barriers Hobble Climate Action'. *Reuters*, 5 August 2009. Available at http://www.reuters.com/article/idUSTRE57462A20090805.

Schmidhuber, J. and Tubiello, F. N. (2007) 'Global Food Security Under Climate Change'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA*, Vol. 104, No. 50, 19703-19708. Available at http://www.pnas.org/content/104/50/19703.full.pdf+html?sid=c554d405-b6fa-494f-a181-3d7b99389e90.

Secretary-General Office of the Spokesperson (2009) UN Secretary-General Ban Ki Moon calls climate outcome 'not sufficient' and welcomes outcome on food security. Secretary-General Office of the Spokesperson, 9 July 2009. Available at http://www.un.org/apps/sg/sgstats.asp?nid=3967.

**The Globe and Mail (2009)** 'The Psychology of Climate Change'. *The Globe and Mail*, 7 August 2009. Available at http://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/technology/science/the-psychology-of-climate-change/article1245158/.

The Independent (2008) 'Climate Change Could Force 1 Billion from their Homes by 2050'. *The Independent*, 29 April 2008, available at http://www.independent.co.uk/environment/climate-change/climate-change-could-force-1-billion-from-their-homes-by-2050-817223.html.

Von Braun, Joachim (2008) 'Impact of Climate Change on Food Security in Times of High Food and Energy Prices'. Article from the International Centre for Trade and Sustainable Development (ICTSD): Geneva. Available at http://ictsd.net/i/environment/31511/.

### Acknowledgement

The United Nations Global Compact Office would like to thank the Danish Government for its continued support for the United Nations Global Compact and the Caring for Climate Initiative as well as its generous contribution to this report.

### About the Author

#### Tom Burke, CBE

Tom Burke is currently an Environmental Policy Adviser to Rio Tinto plc and a Visiting Professor at Imperial and University Colleges, London. He is a Senior Advisor to the Foreign Secretary's Special Representative on Climate Change. He is a Founding Director of E3G, Third Generation Environmentalism. He is Chairman of the Editorial Board of ENDS magazine. He was appointed by the Secretary of State for Northern Ireland to chair an Independent Review of Environmental Governance in Northern Ireland from 2006-7. He was a member of the Council of English Nature, the statutory advisor to the British Government on biodiversity from 1999-2005. During 2002 he served as an advisor to the Central Policy Group in the Deputy Prime Minister's Office. He was Special Adviser to three Secretaries of State for the Environment from 1991-97 after serving as Director of the Green Alliance from 1982-91. He was formerly Executive Director of Friends of the Earth and a member of the Executive Committee of the European Environmental Bureau 1988-91. In 1993 he was appointed to United Nations Environment Programme's 'Global 500' roll of honour. In 1997, he was appointed CBE for services to the environment.

PHOTO CREDITS:

cover © istockphoto

# The Ten Principles of the United Nations Global Compact

#### **HUMAN RIGHTS**

Principle 1	Businesses should support and respect the protection of
	internationally proclaimed human rights; and
Principle 2	make sure that they are not complicit in human rights abuses.

#### **LABOUR**

Principle 3	Businesses should uphold the freedom of association and the
	effective recognition of the right to collective bargaining;
Principle 4	the elimination of all forms of forced and compulsory labour;
Principle 5	the effective abolition of child labour; and
Principle 6	the elimination of discrimination in respect of employment
	and occupation.

#### **ENVIRONMENT**

Principle 7	Businesses are asked to support a precautionary approach to
	environmental challenges;
Principle 8	undertake initiatives to promote greater environmental
	responsibility; and
Principle 9	encourage the development and diffusion of
	environmentally friendly technologies.

#### ANTI-CORRUPTION

Principle 10 Businesses should work against corruption in all its forms, including extortion and bribery.

#### **Caring for Climate**

Caring for Climate is a unique initiative – a commitment to action by business and a call to governments, incorporating transparency. Endorsed by more than 360 companies from 65 countries, Caring for Climate assists companies in the development of effective climate change policies while also providing a channel for the business community to contribute inputs and perspectives to key governmental deliberations.

#### **CEO** Water Mandate

Launched by the UN Secretary-General in July 2007, the Global Compact's CEO Water Mandate is focused on developing corporate strategies and solutions to contribute positively to global water issues. The Mandate is a call-to-action to business everywhere, and provides a strategic management framework covering six areas: direct operations, supply chain and watershed management, collective action, public policy, community engagement and transparency.

